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1. INTRODUCTION
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of Prophecy Development Corp. and its subsidiaries
(“Prophecy”, or the “Company”) was prepared by management as at May 15, 2018 and was reviewed, approved,
and authorized for issue by the Company’s Audit Committee. The following discussion of performance, financial
condition and future prospects should be read in conjunction with the unaudited condensed interim consolidated
financial statements of the Company and notes thereto for the three months ended March 31, 2018 prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), applicable to the preparation of interim
financial statements, including International Accounting Standard (“IAS”) 34 Interim Financial Reporting, as issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board. This MD&A should be read also in conjunction with both the
audited annual consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2017 (prepared in accordance
with IFRS) (“Annual Financial Statements”) and the related annual MD&A (“Annual MD&A”) dated March 29,
2018, and the 2017 Annual Information Form (“AIF”), all of which are available under the Company’s SEDAR profile
at www.sedar.com.
The information provided herein supplements but does not form part of the financial statements. Financial
information is expressed in Canadian Dollars, unless stated otherwise. Readers are cautioned that this MD&A
contains “forward-looking statements” and that actual events may vary from management’s expectations. Readers
are encouraged to read the cautionary note contained herein regarding such forward-looking statements.
Information on risks associated with investing in the Company’s securities as well as information about mineral
resources and reserves under National Instrument 43-101 – Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (“NI 43101”) are contained in the Company’s most recently filed AIF which is available on the Company’s website at
www.prophecydev.com or on SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Description of Business
Prophecy is a company amalgamated under the laws of the Province of British Columbia, Canada. The Company’s
Common shares (the “Shares”) are listed for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol
“PCY”, the OTCQX® Best Market under the symbol “PRPCF” and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol
“1P2N”.
The principal business of the Company is the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral and energy
projects. The Company owns a 100% interest in the following significant projects: two vanadium projects located
in North America including the Gibellini vanadium project which is comprised of the Gibellini and Louie Hill vanadium
deposits and associated claims located in the State of Nevada, USA (the “Gibellini Project”) and the Titan
vanadium-titanium-iron project comprised of the Titan vanadium-titanium-iron deposit and related claims located in
the Province of Ontario, Canada (the “Titan Project”); the Pulacayo Paca silver-lead-zinc property which is
comprised of the Pulacayo and Paca silver-lead-zinc deposits and related concessions located in Bolivia (the
“Pulacayo Project”); two coal projects located in Mongolia including the Ulaan Ovoo project which is comprised of
the Ulaan Ovoo coal deposit, coal leases and Ulaan Ovoo mine and the Khujirt exploration license (the “Ulaan
Ovoo Coal Property”) and the Khavtgai Uul and Chandgana Tal coal deposits, coal leases and Chandgana Tal
mine (the “Chandgana Project”); and the Chandgana Power Plant project comprised of a land right located in
Mongolia.
Prophecy has a focused business strategy to make the Gibellini Project the first operating primary vanadium mine
in North America, offering the best quality vanadium pentoxide product that exceeds customer requirements in a
variety of high-tech applications such as vanadium redox flow batteries and in the aerospace industry. All of the
Gibellini deposit measured and indicated resources are in the oxide and transition zones of the Woodruff Formation
black shale where the mineralization has a low content of deleterious elements (less than 1% Fe, Ti, and MgO).
The deposit is amenable to open pit mining and the mineralization appears amenable to metal recovery by heap
leach followed by solvent extraction methods without an initial roasting step to produce V2O5 as a bagged product
on site that meets the specifications for high-tech applications. The Company is considering development of its
Titan Project and acquisition of other vanadium resources to augment the Gibellini Project and position Prophecy
as a major producer of vanadium.
The vanadium resources are part of a portfolio of projects the Company is building that, through their diversity of
locations, commodities and products, reduces exposure to adverse regulation and political climates and changes
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in specific commodity prices. A diverse portfolio of projects from which a variety of minerals are mined and sold
provides multiple opportunities to maintain revenue and is one facet of Prophecy’s efforts to attain its ultimate
objective of stable positive cash flow.
General Corporate Information:
At March 31, 2018 and May 15, 2018, Prophecy had: (i)
7,472,179 and 7,475,304 Shares issued and
outstanding, respectively; (ii) 844,834 and 1,008,709
stock options for Shares outstanding, respectively; (iii)
2,620,203 and 2,670,203 Share purchase warrants for
Shares outstanding, respectively.
Investor and Contact Information
All financial reports, news releases and corporate
information can be accessed by visiting our website at:
www.prophecydev.com
Investor & Media requests and queries:
Bekzod Kasimov
Tel: +1 (888) 513-6286
Email: ir@prophecydev.com

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
3rd Floor, 510 Burrard Street
Vancouver, BC, Canada V6C 3B9
Tel: +1 (604) 661-9400

Head Office and Registered Office
Suite 1610 - 409 Granville Street
Vancouver, BC, Canada V6C 1T2
Tel: +1 (604) 569-3661

Directors and Officers
As at the date of this MD&A, Prophecy’s directors and officers were as follows:
Directors
John Lee, Executive Chairman
Harald Batista
Greg Hall
Masa Igata

Officers
John Lee, Interim Chief Executive Officer
Irina Plavutska, Chief Financial Officer
Tony Wong, Corporate Secretary
Bekzod Kasimov, Vice-President, Business Development
Michael Drozd, Vice-President, Operations
Danniel Oosterman, Vice-President, Exploration

Audit Committee
Greg Hall (Chair)
Harald Batista
Masa Igata

Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee
Greg Hall (Chair)
Harald Batista
Masa Igata

Qualified Persons
Danniel Oosterman, B.Sc.(Hons), PGeo, is a qualified person as defined under NI 43-101. Mr. Oosterman serves
as the Company’s Vice-President, Exploration and qualified person. He is not considered independent of Prophecy
given the large extent that his professional time is dedicated solely to Prophecy. Mr. Oosterman has reviewed and
approved the technical and scientific disclosure regarding the mineral properties of Prophecy contained in this
MD&A.

2. CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This document contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities legislation
concerning anticipated developments in the Company’s continuing and future operations in the United States,
Canada, Bolivia and Mongolia, and the adequacy of the Company’s financial resources and financial projections.
Such forward-looking statements include but are not limited to statements regarding the permitting, feasibility, plans
for development of the Gibellini Project; development of the Pulacayo Project; development and production of
electricity from Prophecy’s Chandgana Power Plant, including finalizing of any power purchase agreement; the
likelihood of securing project financing; estimated future coal production at the Chandgana Project; and coal
production at the Ulaan Ovoo Coal Property, and other information concerning possible or assumed future results
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of operations of Prophecy. See in particular, Section 4 – Property Summary.
Forward-looking statements in this document are frequently identified by words such as “expects”, “anticipates”,
“intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, “potentially” or similar expressions, or statements that events, conditions
or results “will”, “may”, “would”, “could”, “should” occur or are “to be” achieved, and statements related to matters
which are not historical facts. Information concerning management’s expectations regarding Prophecy’s future
growth, results of operations, performance, business prospects and opportunities may also be deemed to be
forward-looking statements, as such information constitutes predictions based on certain factors, estimates and
assumptions subject to significant business, economic, competitive and other uncertainties and contingencies, and
involve known and unknown risks which may cause the actual results, performance, or achievements to be different
from future results, performance, or achievements contained in such forward-looking statements made by
Prophecy.
In making the forward-looking statements in this MD&A, Prophecy has made several assumptions that it believes
are appropriate, including, but not limited to assumptions that: all required third party contractual, regulatory and
governmental approvals will be obtained for the development, construction and production of Prophecy’s properties
and the Chandgana Power Plant; there being no significant disruptions affecting operations, whether due to labour
disruptions or other causes; currency exchange rates being approximately consistent with current levels; certain
price assumptions for vanadium, silver, other metals and coal, prices for and availability of fuel, parts and equipment
and other key supplies remain consistent with current levels; production forecasts meeting expectations; the
accuracy of Prophecy’s current mineral resource estimates; labour and materials costs increasing on a basis
consistent with Prophecy’s current expectations; and any additional required financing will be available on
reasonable terms; market developments and trends in global supply and demand for vanadium, silver, other metals,
coal and energy meeting expectations. Prophecy cannot assure you that any of these assumptions will prove to be
correct.
Numerous factors could cause Prophecy’s actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in the
forward-looking statements, including the following risks and uncertainties, which are discussed in greater detail
under the heading “Risks and Uncertainties” in this MD&A and “Risk Factors” in Prophecy’s most recent AIF as filed
under the Company’s SEDAR profile at www.SEDAR.com and posted on Prophecy’s website: Prophecy’s history
of net losses and lack of foreseeable positive cash flow; exploration, development and production risks, including
risks related to the development of Prophecy’s mineral properties; Prophecy not having a history of profitable
mineral production; commencing mine development without a feasibility study; the uncertainty of mineral resource
and mineral reserve estimates; the capital and operating costs required to bring Prophecy’s projects into production
and the resulting economic returns from its projects; foreign operations and political conditions, including the legal
and political risks of operating in Bolivia and Mongolia, which are developing countries and being subject to their
local laws; the availability and timeliness of various government approvals, permits and licenses; the feasibility,
funding and development of Prophecy’s projects; protecting title to Prophecy’s mineral properties; environmental
risks; the competitive nature of the mining business; lack of infrastructure; Prophecy’s reliance on key personnel;
uninsured risks; commodity price fluctuations; reliance on contractors; Prophecy’s need for substantial additional
funding and the risk of not securing such funding on reasonable terms or at all; foreign exchange risk; anti-corruption
legislation; recent global financial conditions; the payment of dividends; the inability of insurance to cover all
potential risks associated with mining operations; conflicts of interest; and reliance on information systems with
exposure to cyber-security risks.
In light of the risks and uncertainties inherent in all forward-looking statements, the inclusion or incorporation by
reference of forward-looking statements in this MD&A should not be considered as a representation by Prophecy
or any other person that Prophecy’s objectives or plans will be achieved.
These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on Prophecy’s forwardlooking statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements
contained in this MD&A and the documents incorporated by reference herein are reasonable, but no assurance can
be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. In addition, although the Company has attempted to identify
important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in
forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated,
estimated or intended. Prophecy undertakes no obligation to publicly update any future revisions to forward-looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this MD&A or to reflect the occurrence of
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unanticipated events, except as expressly required by law.
3. FIRST QUARTER HIGHLIGHTS AND SIGNIFICANT EVENTS
•

On January 31, 2018, the Company announced positive preliminary metallurgical testing results from samples
taken from the Titan Project.

•

On February 15, 2018, the Company indirectly acquired an additional 105 unpatented lode mining claims
located adjacent to its existing Gibellini Project in Nevada, USA, through the indirect acquisition of VC
Exploration (US) Inc. (“VC Exploration”) by paying a total of $335,661 in cash and issuing 50,000 Share
purchase warrants to arm’s-length, private parties with the intent to carry-out mining operations there.

•

On February 26, 2018, the Company announced the following executive management appointments:
Michael Drozd, Vice-President, Operations;
Danniel Oosterman, Vice-President, Exploration;
Bekzod Kasimov, Vice-President, Business Development; and
John Young, Environmental Permitting Consultant.

•

On February 27, 2018, the Company announced that its Shares began trading on the OTCQX® Best Market.
The ticker symbol is “PRPCF”. Investors can find current financial disclosure and Real-Time Level 2 quotes
for the Company on www.otcmarkets.com.

•

On March 12, 2018, the Company announced that it entered into a technical advisory and cooperation
agreement with Northwest Nonferrous Metals Mining Group Co., Ltd. to advance the Gibellini Project. A
technical team from Northwest Nonferrous Metals Mining Group Co., Ltd. concluded a visit to the Gibellini site
and collected representative oxide and transitional grade zone samples.

•

On March 28, 2018, the Company announced that following a meeting between the Company and staff of the
Battle Mountain District-Mt. Lewis field office of the Bureau of Land Management (the “BLM”) on March 23,
2018, the Gibellini Project will be one of the first projects to undergo National Environmental Policy Act
(“NEPA”) review under Secretary of the Interior Order No. 3355 titled: Streamlining National Environmental
Policy Reviews and Implementation of Executive Order 13807.

Subsequent to period end
•

On April 18, 2018, the Company announced that it signed an agreement with Monitor Ventures Inc. (“Monitor”)
for the right to access and use information related to the Gibellini Project which was commissioned, compiled
and held by Monitor. In consideration, Prophecy paid $7,000 in cash; issued to Monitor 50,000 warrants entitling
Monitor to purchase one Share at an exercise price of $3.00 for a period of three years, and will, upon approval
of the environmental impact statement (the “EIS”) in connection with the Gibellini Project by the BLM, pay
Monitor, $50,000 in cash.
The Company also announced it granted in aggregate, 140,000 incentive stock options to various directors,
officers and consultants of the Company. The options are exercisable at a price of $2.80 per Share for a term
of five years expiring on April 6, 2023 and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the first two years following the date of
grant.

•

On April 23, 2018, the Company announced an amendment to the Gibellini mineral lease agreement dated
June 22, 2017 (the “Gibellini MLA”), whereby Prophecy has been granted the right to cause the current holder
(the “Gibellini Lessor”) of the Gibellini mineral claims (which Prophecy is currently leasing) to transfer their title
to the claims to Prophecy. With the amendment, Prophecy shall have the option to, at any time during the term
of the Gibellini MLA, require the Gibellini Lessor to transfer title over all of the leased, unpatented lode mining
claims (excluding four claims which will be retained by the Gibellini Lessor for sentimental reasons and which
contain minimal resource) (the “Transferred Claims”) to Prophecy in exchange for USD1,000,000, to be paid
as an advance royalty payment (the “Transfer Payment”). A credit of USD99,027 in favour of Prophecy
towards the Transfer Payment is already paid upon signing of the amendment, with the remaining USD900,973
6

PROPHECY DEVELOPMENT CORP.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
For the three months ended March 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars, except where indicated)
portion of the Transfer Payment due and payable by Prophecy to the Gibellini Lessor upon completion of
transfer of the Transferred Claims from the Gibellini Lessor to Prophecy. The advance royalty obligation and
production royalty shall not be affected, reduced or relieved by the transfer of title.
•

On April 30, 2018, the Company announced the initiation of preparations for its exploration and verification
drilling program on the Gibellini Project in Q2 2018.
The Company also announced that it entered into separate agreements with Andreas Curkovic of Proconsul
Capital Ltd. as well as Karen Michno (Willoughby) to provide investor relations and shareholder communication
services for the Company, and it granted in aggregate, 15,000 incentive stock options to various consultants of
the Company. The options are exercisable at a price of $3.15 per Share for a term of five years expiring on
April 27, 2023 and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the first two years following the date of grant.

•

On May 9, 2018, the Company announced the submission of its Management’s Plan of Operations for the
Gibellini vanadium project to the United States Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Mount
Lewis Field Office and the Reclamation Permit Application to the Nevada Division of Environmental Protection,
Bureau of Mining Regulation and Reclamation.
The Company also announced it granted 20,000 incentive stock options to a consultant of the Company. The
options are exercisable at a price of $3.10 per Common share for a term of five years expiring on May 1, 2023
and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the first two years following the date of grant.

•

3,125 Prophecy stock options at an exercise price of $2.00 per Share were exercised, 3,000 and 5,000
Prophecy stock options at an exercise price of $5.00 and $2.00 per Share respectively were cancelled.

For further information please view the Company’s 2018 news releases under the Company’s SEDAR profile at
www.sedar.com.

4. PROPERTY SUMMARY
Gibellini Project
The Gibellini Project consists of a total of 354 unpatented lode mining claims that include: the Gibellini group of 40
claims, the VC Exploration group of 105 claims, and the Prophecy group of 209 claims. The Gibellini group of
claims was previously referred to by the Company as a “project”. All the claims are located in Eureka County,
Nevada, about 25 miles south of the town of Eureka and are easily accessed from US Highway 50 to a paved road
that becomes a graded, gravel road.
The Gibellini group of claims was acquired on June 22, 2017, through lease from the claimant (the Gibellini Lessor)
and includes an area of approximately 771 acres. Under the Gibellini MLA, Prophecy leased the Gibellini group of
claims which originally constituted the Gibellini Project by among other things, agreeing to pay to the Gibellini
Lessor, annual advance royalty payments which will be tied, based on an agreed formula (not to exceed
USD120,000 per year), to the average vanadium pentoxide price of the prior year. Upon commencement of
production, Prophecy will maintain its acquisition through lease of the Gibellini group of claims by paying to the
Gibellini Lessor, a 2.5% NSR until a total of USD3 million is paid. Thereafter, the NSR will be reduced to 2% over
the remaining life of the mine (and referred to thereafter, as “production royalty payments”). All advance royalty
payments made, will be deducted as credits against future production royalty payments. The lease is for a term of
10 years, which can be extended for an additional 10 years at Prophecy’s option.
On April 19, 2018, the Gibellini MLA was amended to grant Prophecy the option, at any time during the term of the
agreement, to require the Gibellini Lessor to transfer their title over all of the leased mining claims (excluding four
claims which will be retained by the Gibellini Lessor and which contain minimal resource) to Prophecy in exchange
for USD1,000,000, to be paid as an advance royalty payment.
On July 10, 2017, the Company acquired (through lease) from the holders (the “Former Louie Hill Lessors”) 10
unpatented lode claims totaling approximately 207 gross acres that comprised the Louie Hill group of claims located
approximately 500 metres south of the Gibellini group of claims. These claims were subsequently abandoned by
7
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the Former Louie Hill Lessors, and on March 11 and 12, 2018, the Company staked the area within and under 17
new claims totaling approximately 340 gross acres which now collectively comprise the expanded Louie Hill group
of claims.
The Company is currently negotiating a royalty agreement with the Former Louie Hill Lessors to replace on
substantially similar terms, the former Louie Hill Mineral Lease Agreement dated July 10, 2017, wherein Prophecy
will pay an advance royalty and a net smelter royalty on vanadium pentoxide produced from the area of the 10
unpatented lode claims originally acquired through lease from the Former Louie Hill Lessors that is now contained
within 17 lode claims recently staked by the Company’s subsidiaries. The annual advance royalty payments will be
tied, based on an agreed formula (the total amount not to exceed USD28,000 per year), to the average vanadium
pentoxide price for the prior year.
Upon commencement of production, Prophecy will pay to the Former Louie Hill Lessors, a 2.5% NSR of which,
1.5% of the NSR may be purchased at any time by Prophecy for USD1 million, leaving the total NSR to be reduced
to 1% over the remaining life of the mine (and referred to thereafter, as “production royalty payments”). All advance
royalty payments made, will be deducted as credits against future production royalty payments. The royalty
agreement shall be for an indefinite period and shall be valid and in full force and effect for as long as the Company,
its subsidiaries, or any of their permitted successors or assigns holds a valid and enforceable mining concession
over the area.
On December 5, 2017, the Company announced that it had significantly expanded the land position at the Gibellini
Project, by staking a total of 198 new claims immediately adjacent to the Gibellini Project covering 4091 acres that
are sufficient to enable future vanadium mining, processing and extraction. These claims are in the adjudication
process as of the date of this MD&A.
On February 15, 2018, the Company indirectly acquired an additional 105 unpatented lode mining claims located
adjacent to its existing Gibellini Project in Nevada, USA through the indirect acquisition of VC Exploration, by paying
a total of $335,661 in cash and issuing 50,000 Share purchase warrants to arm’s-length, private parties.
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The Company entered into a technical advisory and cooperation agreement with Northwest Nonferrous Metals
Mining Group Co., Ltd. (the “NWME”) to advance the Gibellini Project. The scope of work for NWME includes
technical design and engineering of vanadium ore processing facilities to recover vanadium pentoxide at Gibellini
with the goal of producing a commercial high grade vanadium pentoxide product on site.
As part of the agreement, NWME reviewed the historic Gibellini feasibility study commissioned by the project’s
previous operator, including metallurgical studies, prepared by SGS and McClelland Laboratories.
The NWME technical team recently concluded a visit to the Gibellini site and collected representative oxide and
transition zone samples. The samples will be used in metallurgical work to enhance heap leaching of the blackshale vanadium ore and process recovery of vanadium from the pregnant leach solution.
On March 28, 2018, the Company announced that following a meeting between the staff of the Battle Mountain
District-Mt. Lewis field office of the BLM and the Company on March 23, 2018, the Gibellini Project will be one of
the first projects to undergo NEPA review under Secretary of the Interior Order No. 3355 with the following subject:
Streamlining National Environmental Policy Reviews and Implementation of Executive Order 13807 (the “Order”).
The Order states as one of its intentions to “immediately implement certain improvements to [NEPA] reviews
conducted by the Department of the Interior (Department)”. Among these improvements which would be of potential
9
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benefit to the Company, is the requirement to a complete review of environmental impact statements in less time,
and shorter documentation requirements than before.
At the end of the meeting, the BLM and Prophecy tentatively agreed to the following:
1. Prophecy is to revise and submit the baseline studies and Plan of Operation for the Gibellini Project in May
2018 based largely on submissions from the project’s previous operator;
2. the BLM and Prophecy will then identify data and studies requiring updates, which Prophecy will engage
contractors to perform;
3. in parallel, Prophecy will begin preparing an environmental report relating to the Gibellini Project; and
4. upon acceptance of the baseline studies, Plan of Operation, and environmental report by the BLM, Prophecy
expects to trigger a Notice of Intent by the BLM to prepare an EIS for the Gibellini Project, currently expected
to be completed in 2019.
Gibellini Deposit
On November 20, 2017, the Company received an independent technical report titled “Gibellini Vanadium Project
Nevada, USA NI 43-101 Technical Report” with an effective date of November 10, 2017 (the ”Gibellini Report”)
prepared by Amec E&C. The Gibellini Report has been filed under the Company’s SEDAR profile at
www.SEDAR.com.
The Gibellini Report discloses an estimated resource of 7.85 million tons at a weighted average grade of 0.316%
vanadium pentoxide (V2O5) in the Measured category and 14.16 million tons at a weighted average grade of 0.281%
V2O5 in the Indicated category leading to a total combined Measured and Indicated Mineral Resource of 22.01
million tons at a weighted average grade of 0.294% V2O5. The total contained metal content of the Measured and
Indicated Mineral Resources is 129.28 million pounds V2O5. The Inferred Mineral Resource estimate is 9.82 million
tons at a weighted average grade of 0.19% V2O5. The total contained metal content of the Inferred Mineral
Resource estimate is 37.27 million pounds V2O5. Table 1 below contains a summary of the Gibellini deposit
resource estimate.
Table 1
Gibellini Deposit Mineral Resource Statement
Resource
Category

Domain

Cut-off V2O5
(%)

Tons
(Mln)

Grade
(%V2O5)

Metal
Content
(Mln lbs V2O5)

Measured

Oxide

0.116

3.90

0.253

19.74

Transition

0.105

3.95

0.379

29.88

Oxide

0.116

7.04

0.235

33.12

Transition

0.105

7.12

0.327

46.55

22.01

0.294

129.28

Indicated

Total Measured and Indicated
Inferred

Oxide

0.116

0.14

0.179

0.50

Transition

0.105

0.01

0.179

0.03

Reduced

0.134

9.68

0.190

36.75

9.82

0.190

37.27

Total Inferred

Notes to accompany mineral resource table for Gibellini deposit:
(1) The Qualified Person for the estimate is Mr. E.J.C. Orbock III, RM SME, an Amec E&C employee. The Mineral Resource
estimate has an effective date of 10 November, 2017.
(2) Mineral Resources are reported at various cut-off grades for oxide, transition, and reduced material.
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(3) Mineral Resources are reported within a conceptual pit shell that uses the following assumptions: mineral resource
V2O5 price: $10.81/lb; mining cost: $2.21/ton mined; process cost: $13.14/ton processed; general and administrative (G&A)
cost: $0.99/ton processed; metallurgical recovery assumptions of 60% for oxide material, 70% for transition material and
52% for reduced material; tonnage factors of 16.86 ft3/ton for oxide material, 16.35 ft3/ton for transition material and 14.18
ft3/ton for reduced material; royalty: 2.5% NSR; shipping and conversion costs: $0.37/lb. An overall 40º pit slope angle
assumption was used.
(4) Rounding as required by reporting guidelines may result in apparent summation differences between tons, grade and
contained metal content. Tonnage and grade measurements are in US units. Grades are reported in percentages.

Louie Hill Deposit
The Louie Hill deposit lies approximately 1,600 ft south of the Gibellini deposit.
The Gibellini Report disclosed an Inferred Mineral Resource of 7.06 million tons at a weighted average grade of
0.284% vanadium pentoxide (V2O5). The oxidation domains were not modeled. The total contained metal
content of the deposit is estimated to be 40.16 million pounds V2O5. Table 2 below contains a summary of the
Louie Hill deposit resource estimate.
Table 2
Louie Hill Deposit Mineral Resource Statement
Resource
Category

Domain

Cut-off
(%)

Inferred

Not modeled

0.116

V2O5

Tons
(Mln)

Grade
(%V2O5)

Metal
Content
(Mln lbs V2O5)

7.06

0.284

40.16

Notes to accompany mineral resource table for Louie Hill:
(1) The Qualified Person for the estimate is Mr. E.J.C. Orbock III, RM SME, an Amec E&C employee. The Mineral Resources
have an effective date of 10 November 2017. The resource model was prepared by Mr. Mark Hertel, RM SME.
(2) Oxidation state was not modeled.
(3) Mineral Resources are reported within a conceptual pit shell that uses the following assumptions: mineral resource V 2O5
price: $10.81/lb; mining cost: $2.21/ton mined; process cost: $13.14/ton processed; general and administrative (G&A) cost:
$0.99/ton processed; metallurgical recovery assumptions of 60% for mineralized material; tonnage factors of 16.86 ft3/ton for
mineralized material, royalty: 2.5% NSR; shipping and conversion costs: $0.37/lb. For the purposes of the resource estimate,
an overall 40º slope angle assumption was used.
(4) Rounding as required by reporting guidelines may result in apparent summation differences between tons, grade and
contained metal content. Tonnage and grade measurements are in US units. Grades are reported in percentages.

A total of 280 drill holes (about 51,265 ft) have been completed on the Gibellini Project since 1946, comprising 16
core holes (4,046 ft), 169 rotary drill holes (25,077 ft; note not all drill holes have footages recorded) and 95 reverse
circulation holes (22,142 ft).
The vanadium-host black shale unit ranges from 175 to over 300 ft thick and overlies gray mudstone. The shale
has been oxidized to various hues of yellow and orange to a depth of 100 ft. Alteration (oxidation) of the rocks is
classified as one of three oxide codes: oxidized, transitional, and reduced.
During the three months ended March 31, 2018, the Company incurred total costs of $287,958 for the Gibellini
Project including $26,254 for claims and bonds registration, $178,104 for geological and environmental services,
and $83,330 for general and administrative expenses.
On April 18, 2018, the Company announced that it signed an agreement with Monitor for the right to access and
use information related to the Gibellini Project which was commissioned, compiled and held by Monitor. In
consideration, Prophecy paid $7,000 in cash, issued to Monitor 50,000 warrants entitling Monitor to purchase one
Share at an exercise price of $3.00 for a period of three years, and will, upon approval of the EIS by BLM, pay
Monitor, $50,000 in cash.
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On April 30, 2018, the Company announced that it is initiating preparations for its exploration and verification drilling
program on the Gibellini vanadium project in Q2 2018. A total of 4,880m of reverse circulation drilling in 64 holes
are planned in the following target areas:
Gibellini: 33 holes total 2,740 meters
Thirty-three (33) infill drill holes have been planned to increase the confidence level of a potential near-surface
higher-grade starter pit (“HSP”) with the following historic drilling highlights:
Table 3
Historic drill results on the Gibellini Resource
Hole ID

From (m)

To (m)

Meters

% V2O5

T-38

3.05

45.72

42.7

0.755

including…

28.96

44.20

15.2

1.399

NG-47

1.52

57.91

56.4

0.533

including…

28.96

39.62

10.7

1.005

NG-6

6.10

70.10

64.0

0.455

T-33

1.52

57.91

56.4

0.462

including…

33.53

41.15

7.6

1.102

T-27

1.52

60.96

59.4

0.419

NG-12

22.86

60.96

38.1

0.652

including…

24.38

45.72

21.3

0.857

IG-2

4.57

53.34

48.8

0.501

NG-4

3.05

56.39

53.3

0.413

Because the drill holes are vertical and the oxidation zones are nearly horizontal the meterage reported is
considered true thickness.
Louie Hill: 28 holes total 1,765 meters
A total of 28 holes are planned for infill and expansion which are aimed to increase total resource tonnage, upgrade
resource confidence level, and to delineate whether higher grade mineralized intercepts comprise continuous
zones, based on the following past drill highlights:
Table 4
Historic drill results from the Louie Hill resource
Hole ID

From (m)

To (m)

Meters

% V2O5

UC58-1

1.52

24.38

22.86

0.457

UC58-11

16.76

30.48

13.72

0.489

UC58-13

13.72

25.91

12.19

0.428

UC58-3

0.00

27.43

27.43

0.406

including…

18.29

22.86

4.57

0.877

UC58-46

0.00

9.14

9.14

0.620

UC58-6

0.00

12.19

12.19

0.733
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including…

0.00

7.62

7.62

0.936

Because the drill holes are vertical and the oxidation zones are nearly horizontal the meterage reported is
considered true thickness.
Middle Earth, Big Sky and Northeast Regional Prospects: 3 holes total 375 meters
Regional prospects are all within a three-kilometer trend of the Gibellini resource and occur within Prophecy’s
controlled claims. Combined, the three prospects cover 2.5 square kilometers which is over twice the size of
Gibellini’s foot print.
These prospects contain exposures of the same host rocks found at Gibellini and Louie Hill, known as the Woodruff
Formation, which is comprised predominantly of various mudstones and lesser chert.
Over 390 assay results from trenches in the Big Sky and Northeast Trench prospects and core samples from the
historic drilling at Middle Earth prospect all demonstrated appreciable vanadium grades. Below are highlights from
past trenching and drilling:
Table 5
Historic results from exploration prospects on Gibellini property
Prospect

Hole ID/Trench

From (m)

To (m)

Meters

% V2O5

Middle
Earth

UC58-18

0

4.572

4.6

0.567

Middle
Earth

UC58-19

0

18.288

18.3

0.337

Northeast

TRENCH Nt3

3.0

60.0

57.0

0.270

Because the drill holes are vertical and the oxidation zones are nearly horizontal the meterage reported is
considered true thickness.
A total of three holes making for total drilling of 375 meters are designed to drill test the three regional prospects.
Prophecy expects to report findings from an independent preliminary economic assessment of the Gibellini Project
in May 2018. Also in May, Prophecy expects to submit updated base line studies and an updated Plan of Operations
for the Gibellini Project to the BLM.
2018 Outlook
Prophecy expects to report findings from an independent preliminary economic assessment of the Gibellini Project
in May 2018. Also, in May, Prophecy expects to submit updated base line studies and an updated Plan of
Operations for the Gibellini Project to the BLM.
Pulacayo Project
For details on the Pulacayo Project, please refer to the relevant section of the Annual MD&A and AIF for this
information.
2018 Outlook
The Company intends to develop the Pulacayo Project which includes further assessment of the mineral
resource potential, mine re-opening and construction of a processing facility on site. Exploration will
continue including the exploration to prove the planned stopes, completing the exploration plan to assess
the mineral resource potential and tailings, continue with securing approval of the exploration permit, and
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the required exploration to maintain the concessions.
During 2017, the price of silver increased from USD15.88/oz to USD16.90/oz (6%), while the price of zinc increased
from USD1.16/lb to USD1.50/lb (29%). Those trends bode well for Pulacayo while the Company continues to study
optimal mining production and processing scenarios and intends to announce a production decision at the
conclusion of its study in conjunction with a financing plan, should a positive production decision be reached in the
near future. A positive production decision would not be based on a feasibility study of mineral reserves
demonstrating economic and technical viability so would carry increased uncertainty and the risk of failure as to the
mining method and profitability.

5. SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS
The following table summarizes selected consolidated financial information for the eight most recently completed
quarters:

Operating expense
Net loss
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss per share, basic and diluted

Operating expense
Net loss
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Comprehensive loss
Comprehensive loss per share, basic and diluted

$
$
$

$
$
$

2018
Q1

2017
Q4

(562,918)
(589,219)
0.08
(643,219)
0.08

(1,277,507)
(17,869,936)
(3.20)
(17,857,776)
(3.20)

2017
Q1

2016
Q4

(282,923) $
(30,009)
(0.01) $
(30,009)
(0.01) $

(473,114) $
(1,089,282)
(0.23) $
(1,089,282)
(0.23) $

2017
Q3
(484,907) $
(176,793)
(0.03) $
(176,793)
(0.03) $
2016
Q3
(307,343) $
(651,212)
(0.14) $
(651,212)
(0.14) $

2017
Q2
(336,028)
(516,243)
(0.10)
(516,243)
(0.10)
2016
Q2
(248,333)
(140,392)
(0.04)
(140,392)
(0.04)

6. DISCUSSION OF OPERATIONS
The reader is encouraged to refer to Note 6 of the Company’s Annual Financial Statements for the year ended
December 31, 2017 for Prophecy’s IFRS accounting policies.
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018 and 2017 (Q1 2018 and Q1 2017)
Results of operations are summarized as follows:

Operating Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Consulting and management fees
General and administrative expenses
Professional fees
Share-based payments
Travel and accommodation

$

$

Three months ended March 31,
2018
2017
45,378 $
12,429
68,278
36,430
223,580
153,221
56,495
14,843
134,928
42,579
34,259
23,421
562,918 $
282,923

The Company had an operating loss of $562,918 for Q1 2018, compared with an operating loss of $282,923 for Q1
2017.
The increase by $279,995 in operating expenses was a result of the overall increased activity levels of the Company.
14

PROPHECY DEVELOPMENT CORP.
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
For the three months ended March 31, 2018
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars, except where indicated)
Of note are the following items:
•

advertising and promotion expenses increased by $32,949 due to increased activities to promote and
market the Company in order to raise equity financing;

•

consulting and management fees increased by $31,848 due to hiring a new Vice President, Exploration and
restoring the Company CEO’s previously reduced consulting fee to its original level;

•

general and administrative fees consisting of general office expenses and administrative services related
to maintaining the Company’s exchange listings and complying with securities regulations along with
insurance, salaries and directors’ fees. General and administrative expenses increased by $70,359 in Q1
2018 compared to Q1 2017. The increase was the result of restored and increased salaries for officers of
the Company, hiring an employee, increased IT services, and increased stock exchange and shareholder
services.

•

professional fees increased by $41,652 due to increased legal, accounting and audit services related to the
acquisition of certain Gibellini claims in Nevada.

•

non-cash Share-based payments expenses increased by $92,349 due to a larger number of outstanding
stock options vesting during Q1 2018 compared to Q1 2017; and

•

travel and accommodation expenses increased by $10,838 due to increased property site visits.

For Q1 2018, the Company’s “Other Items” amounted to a loss of $26,301 compared to a gain of $252,914 for Q1
2017.

Other Items
Costs/(income) in excess of recovered coal
Finance cost
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss
Interest expense
Loss on sale of marketable securities
Impairment of mineral property

$

$

Three months ended March 31,
2018
2017
38,671 $
(163,948)
91
(12,370)
(215,956)
7,889
22,810
96,200
26,301 $
(252,914)

7. PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS
As at the date of this MD&A there are no proposed transactions where the Board of Directors or senior management
believes that confirmation of the decision by the Board is probable or with which the Board and senior management
have decided to proceed.
8. LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Working Capital
The Company utilizes existing cash received from prior issuances of equity instruments to provide liquidity to the
Company and finance exploration projects.
At March 31, 2018, the Company had cash flow of $2,742,722 representing a decrease of $1,357,886 from
$4,100,608 held at December 31, 2017. The Company’s working capital at March 31, 2018 was $1.5 million
compared to a working capital of $2.6 million at December 31, 2017. The Company’s working capital decreased
by $1.1 million since the year ended December 31, 2017 resulting mainly from expenditures incurred related to
acquisition and exploration activities of Gibellini Project. The Company’s cash flow highlights are presented in the
table below.
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The Company believes it has sufficient capital to meet its cash needs for the next 12 months, including the costs of
compliance with continuing reporting requirements.
Cash Flow Highlights

Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities
Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
Cash balance, beginning of period

$

Cash balance, end of period

$

Three months ended March 31,
2018
2017
(418,819) $
13,542
(939,067)
(171,607)
188,504
(1,357,886)
30,439
4,100,608
21,648
2,742,722 $

52,087

Operating activities: Cash used in operating activities was $418,819 in Q1 2018 (cash provided $13,542 - Q1
2017). The increased outflows in 2018 primarily related to Gibellini Project activities.
Investing activities: Cash used in investing activities was $939,067 and 171,607 respectively for Q1 2018 and
Q1 2017. The Company spent $60,940 on purchasing marketable securities, $335.661 on the acquisition of 105
unpatented lode mining claims located adjacent to its Gibellini Project, and $542,466 on mineral property exploration
activities.
Financing activities: No cash was provided by financing activities during the Q1 2018 ($188,504 – Q1 2017).
Capital Resources
The Company has sufficient financial resources to keep its landholdings in good standing through for at least the
next 12 months.
As an exploration and development company, Prophecy has no regular cash in-flow from operations, and the level
of operations is principally a function of availability of capital resources. The Company’s capital resources are
largely determined by the strength of the junior resource markets and by the status of the Company’s projects in
relation to these markets, and its ability to compete for investor support of its projects. To date, the principal sources
of funding have been equity and debt financing. Many factors influence the Company’s ability to raise funds, and
there is no assurance that the Company will be successful in obtaining adequate financing and at favourable terms
for these or other purposes including general working capital purposes.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the
Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business for the
foreseeable future. The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon the continued support
from its shareholders, the discovery of economically recoverable reserves, and the ability of the Company to obtain
the financing necessary to complete development and achieve profitable operations in the future. The outcome of
these matters cannot be predicted at this time.
Contractual Commitments
Prophecy’s commitments related to mineral properties are disclosed in Note 13 to the Annual Financial Statements
and Notes 7 and 16 to the condensed interim financial statements for the three months ended March 31, 2018.
Prophecy’s other commitments include a rental commitment on the head and Nevada office premises:
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2018
Office Lease Obligations

$
$

31,493
31,493

2019
$
$

Payments Due by Year
2020
2021

35,449
35,449

$
$

35,895
35,895

$
$

15,034
15,034

Total
$
$

117,871
117,871

Capital Risk Management
Prophecy considers its capital structure to consist of Share capital, stock options and Share purchase warrants.
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the
Company, in order to support the exploration and development of its projects and to pursue and support growth
opportunities. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative returns on capital criteria for management.
The Company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. There has been no change in the
Company’s approach to capital management during the three-month period ended March 31, 2018.
Management is aware that market conditions, driven primarily by vanadium, silver, other metal and coal prices, may
limit the Company’s ability to raise additional funds. These factors, and others, are considered when shaping the
Company’s capital management strategy.
9. CONTINGENCIES
The Company accrues for liabilities when they are probable and the amount payable can be reasonably estimated.
There is no change to the Company contingencies status described in the Annual Financial Statements at the date
of this MD&A.
10. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Prophecy had related party transactions with the following companies, related by way of directors and key
management personnel:
•
•
•

Linx Partners Ltd., a private company controlled by John Lee, Director, CEO and Executive Chairman of
Prophecy, provides management and consulting services to the Company.
MaKevCo Consulting Inc., a private company 50% owned by Greg Hall, Director of Prophecy, provides
consulting services to the Company.
Sophir Asia Ltd., a private company controlled by Masa Igata, Director of Prophecy, provides consulting
services to the Company.

A summary of amounts paid or accrued to related parties is as follows:

Related parties
Directors and officers
Linx Partners Ltd.
MaKevCo Consulting Inc.
Sophir Asia Ltd.

$

$
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2017
117,163 $
52,250
105,012
52,500
4,700
6,200
4,400
3,500
231,275 $
114,450
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A summary of the transactions by nature among the related parties is as follows:

Related parties
Consulting and management fees
Directors' fees
Mineral properties
Salaries

$

$

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017
55,512 $
30,900
13,500
10,800
93,763
39,000
68,500
33,750
231,275 $
114,450

On January 13, 2016, the Company’s directors and executive management agreed to temporarily:
•

reduce directors’ fees by 50% and defer payment of such reduced directors’ fees until such time as the
Company’s cash flow situation permits it to pay such reduced directors fees, and/or to fully or partially restore
their directors’ fees to their original levels;

•

reduce the CEO’s consulting fees by 50% and defer payment of such reduced consulting fees until such time
as the Company’s cash flow situation permits it to pay such reduced consulting fees, and/or to fully or partially
restore the CEO’s consulting fees to their original level; and

•

reduce other executive officers’ salaries by 17% – 50% until such time as the Company’s cash flow situation
permits it to fully or partially restore their salaries to their original levels.

Effective September 1, 2017, given the Company’s improved financial position, the Company:
•

partially restored directors’ fees by 15% with no further cash payment deferred;

•

fully restored the CEO’s consulting fee with 25% of such fully restored consulting fee cash payment deferred
until such time as the Company’s cash flow situation permits it to fully or partially pay such deferred and accrued
consulting fee; and

•

fully restored executive officers’ salaries or consulting fee with no further cash payment deferred.

Effective February 20, 2018, given the Company’s improved financial position, the Company cancelled any further
deferral of 25% of the CEO’s fully restored consulting fee cash payment.
As at March 31, 2018, amounts due to related parties totaled $Nil (December 31, 2017 – $160,503).
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and
controlling the activities of the Company, including directors of the Company. The amounts due to related parties
is summarized below:

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017

Key Management Personnel
Salaries and short term benefits
Share-based payments

$
$

70,912 $
132,544
203,456 $

34,367
26,324
60,691

11. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board. The Company followed the same accounting policies and methods of
computation in the Annual Financial Statements for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The significant
accounting policies applied and recent accounting pronouncements are described in Notes 4 and 6 to the Annual
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Financial Statements and Note 2(d) to the condensed interim financial statements for the three months ended March
31, 2018.
In preparing the condensed consolidated interim financial statements in accordance with IFRS, management is
required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Areas requiring the use of estimates include the rates of amortization
for property and equipment, the useful life and recoverability of long-lived assets, the recoverability of accounts
receivable, determination of environmental obligation provision for closure and reclamation, accounts payable and
accrued liabilities, the assumptions used in the determination of the fair value of financial instruments and sharebased payments, and the determination of the recoverability of deferred income tax assets bases its estimates and
assumptions on current and various other factors that it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances.
Management believes the estimates are reasonable; however, actual results could differ from those estimates and
could impact future results of operations and cash flows.
Readers are encouraged to read the significant judgements, estimates and assumptions as described in Note 5 to
the Annual Financial Statements.
12. ACCOUNTING CHANGES AND RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (“IFRS 9”)
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 as the first step in its project to replace IAS 39, Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS 9. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies
the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary measurement categories for financial assets: amortized
cost and fair value. The basis of classification depends on an entity’s business model and the contractual cash
flows of the financial asset.
Classification is made at the time the financial asset is initially recognized, namely when the entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
IFRS 9 amends some of the requirements of IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, including added
disclosures about investments in equity instruments measured at fair value in other comprehensive income, and
guidance on the measurement of financial liabilities and de-recognition of financial instruments. The mandatory
effective date of IFRS 9 is for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted
and must be applied retrospectively with some exemptions permitted.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company has adopted IFRS 9. The implementation of the new standard resulted in
no impact on the measurement of the Company’s reported financial results; however additional disclosures have
been provided.
The Company’s financial instruments are accounted for as follows under IFRS 9 as compared to the Company’s
previous policy in accordance with IAS 39.
January 1, 2018
IAS 39

IFRS 9

Fair value through profit or loss
Amortized cost

Fair value through profit or loss
Amortized cost

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

Fair value through other
comprehensive income

Fair value through other
comprehensive income

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

Assets
Cash
Restricted cash equivalents
Receivables
Marketable securities
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
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Under IFRS 9, the Company’s equity marketable securities are designated as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income or loss. Upon adoption of IFRS 9, The Company has made an irrevocable election to
recognize changes in fair value of marketable securities through other comprehensive income or loss as they are
not considered to be held for trading.
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (“IFRS 15”) – Effective January 1, 2018, the Company has
adopted IFRS 15. ’This standard contains a single model that applies to contracts with customers and two
approaches to recognising revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step
analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and
judgmental thresholds have been introduced, which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized.
The adoption of this standard had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) - IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 and applies a control model to the identification of leases,
distinguishing between a lease and a service contract on the basis of whether the customer controls the asset being
leased. For those assets determined to meet the definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to
the accounting by lessees, introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to the current
finance lease accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor
accounting remains similar to current accounting practice. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted for entities that apply IFRS 15. The Company plans to
apply IFRS 16 at the date it becomes effective.
There are other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been published and are
not yet effective. The Company believes they will have no material impact to its annual consolidated financial
statements.
13. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED RISKS
The Board of Directors, through the Audit Committee is responsible for identifying the principal risks of the Company
and ensuring that risk management systems are implemented. Prophecy manages its exposure to financial risks,
including liquidity risk, foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk in accordance with its risk
management framework. The Company’s board of directors reviews Prophecy’s policies on an ongoing basis.
Financial Instruments
A description of financial instruments is included in Note 21 to the Annual Financial Statements and Note 10 to the
condensed interim consolidated financial statements for the thee months ended March 31, 2018. Effective January
1, 2018, the Company has adopted IFRS 9. The implementation of the new standard resulted in no impact on the
measurement of the Company’s reported financial results; however additional disclosures have been provided.
Related Risks
(a) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The
Company manages liquidity risk by preparing cash flow forecasts of upcoming cash requirements. As at
March 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $2,742,722 (December 31, 2017 – $4,100,608). As at
March 31, 2018, the Company had accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $1,613,312 (December 31,
2017 - $1,895,983), which have contractual maturities of 90 days or less.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the
other party to incur a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk primarily associated to cash and
restricted cash equivalents and receivables, net of allowances. The significant concentration of credit risk is
situated in Mongolia. The carrying amount of assets included on the statements of financial position
represents the maximum credit exposure.
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(c) Market risk
The significant market risks to which the Company is exposed are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, and
commodity and equity price risk. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market
risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.
(i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due
to changes in market interest rates. The Company’s cash and restricted cash equivalents primarily include
highly liquid investments that earn interest at market rates that are fixed to maturity. Due to the short‐ term
nature of these financial instruments, fluctuations in market rates do not have significant impact on the fair
values of the financial instruments as of March 31, 2018.

(ii) Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that monetary assets and liabilities held by
the Company are not denominated in Canadian dollars.
The Company has exploration and development projects in the United States, Mongolia and Bolivia and
undertakes transactions in various foreign currencies. The Company is therefore exposed to foreign
currency risk arising from transactions denominated in a foreign currency and the translation of financial
instruments denominated in US dollars, Mongolian tugrik, and Bolivian boliviano into its functional and
reporting currency, the Canadian dollar.
Based on the above, net exposures as at March 31, 2018, with other variables unchanged, a 10%
(December 31, 2017 – 10%) strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar against the Mongolian tugrik
would impact net loss with other variables unchanged by $65,000. A 10% strengthening (weakening) of the
Canadian dollar against the Bolivian boliviano would impact net loss with other variables unchanged by
$150,000. A 10% strengthening (weakening) of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar would impact net
loss with other variables unchanged by $45,000. The Company currently does not use any foreign
exchange contracts to hedge this currency risk.
(iii) Commodity and equity price risk
Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due to
commodity price movements and volatilities. Commodity prices fluctuate on a daily basis and are affected
by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. The supply and demand for these commodities, the
level of interest rates, the rate of inflation, investment decisions by large holders of commodities including
governmental reserves and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in prices. Such
external economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international investment patterns and
monetary systems and political developments.
The Company is also exposed to price risk with regards to equity prices. Equity price risk is defined as the
potential adverse impact on the Company’s earning due to movements in individual equity prices or general
movements in the level of the stock market.
The Company closely monitors commodity prices, individual equity movements and the stock market to
determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company. Fluctuations in value may be
significant.
14. RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
Readers should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described in the Company’s AIF for the year ended
December 31, 2017 “Risk Factors” page 82. The AIF is available under the Company’s SEDAR profile at
www.SEDAR.com.
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15. DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Design of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be
disclosed by Prophecy in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted by it under securities
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the securities
legislation and include controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the
Company in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities legislation is
accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including its Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
Prophecy’s disclosure committee is comprised of the Chief Executive Officer and senior members of management.
The disclosure committee’s responsibilities include determining whether information is material and ensuring the
timely disclosure of material information in accordance with securities laws. The board of directors is responsible
for reviewing the Company’s disclosure policy, procedures and controls to ensure that it addresses the Company’s
principal business risks, and changes in operations or structure, and facilitates compliance with applicable
legislative and regulatory reporting requirements.
The Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, after participating with the Company’s management in
evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures have concluded that as of March
31, 2018, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective.
Design of Internal Controls over Financial Reporting
The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. The Company’s
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
IFRS. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:
•

pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions,
acquisition and disposition of assets and liabilities;

•

provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the
financial statements in accordance with IFRS and that receipts and expenditures are being made only in
accordance with the authorization of management and directors of Prophecy; and

•

provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of assets, and incurrence of liabilities, that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting using the criteria set forth in
the Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based on this assessment, management concluded that the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of March 31, 2018.
16. CHANGES IN INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
There were no changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting during the three months ended
March 31, 2018, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Limitations of controls and procedures
The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, believe that any
disclosure controls and procedures or internal controls over financial reporting, no matter how well conceived and
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operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met.
Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of
controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, they
cannot provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have
been prevented or detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgements in decision-making
can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by unauthorized override
of the control. The design of any systems of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions. Accordingly, because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control
system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.
17. DISCLOSURE OF OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA
As at the date of this MD&A, the Company had a total of:
•

7,475,304 Shares outstanding with recorded value of $165,295,034;

•

1,008,709 stock options outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $3.24. The options are
exercisable to purchase one Share at prices ranging from $2.00 to $13.00 and expire between July 2018
and May 2023; and

•

2,670,203 Share purchase warrants outstanding with a weighted average exercise price of $4.40. The
Share purchase warrants are exercisable to purchase one Share at prices ranging from $3.00 to $7.00 and
expire between May 2020 and June 2022.

18. OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
During the three months ended March 31, 2018, Prophecy was not a party to any off-balance sheet arrangements
that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or future effect on the results of operations, financial condition,
revenues or expenses, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources of Prophecy.
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF CONDENSED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
The accompanying unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared by
management of the Company and approved by the Company’s Audit Committee. The Company’s independent
auditors have not performed a review of these condensed interim consolidated financial statements in accordance
with the standards established for a review of interim financial statements by an entity’s auditors.
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As at

March 31,
2018

Notes

December 31,
2017

Assets
Current assets
Cash
Receivables
Prepaid expenses
Marketable securities

4

$

5

Non-current assets
Restricted cash equivalents
Reclamation deposits
Equipment
Mineral properties

4

2,742,722 $
35,596
145,410
212,540
3,136,268

4,100,608
34,653
140,610
205,600
4,481,471

34,500
21,055
495,825
14,178,132

34,500
21,055
531,911
13,299,906

$

17,865,780 $

18,368,843

$

1,613,312 $
1,613,312

1,895,983
1,895,983

244,323
7,689,234

244,323
7,541,016

9,546,869

9,681,322

6
7

Liabilities and Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

8

Non-current liabilities
Provision for closure and reclamation
Tax provision

15

Equity
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Deficit

9

165,862,805
22,895,811
(41,840)
(180,397,865)

5

8,318,911
$
Approved on behalf of the Board:
"John Lee"
John Lee, Director

17,865,780 $

165,862,805
22,621,202
12,160
(179,808,646)
8,687,521
18,368,843

"Greg Hall"
Greg Hall, Director

Contingencies (Note 15)
Events after the reporting date (Note 16)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
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Notes
General and Administrative Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Consulting and management fees
Depreciation and accretion
Director fees
Insurance
Office and administration
Professional fees
Salaries and benefits
Share-based payments
Stock exchange and shareholder services
Travel and accommodation

Other Items
Income/(costs) in excess of recovered coal
Finance cost
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Interest expense
Loss on sale of marketable securities
Impairment of mineral property

$
12
12

12
9

5
7

Net Loss for Period
Fair value loss on marketable securities

5

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017
45,378 $
68,278
1,923
13,500
13,073
34,793
56,495
90,253
134,928
70,038
34,259

12,429
36,430
2,389
10,800
13,098
27,886
14,843
42,582
42,579
56,466
23,421

(562,918)

(282,923)

(38,671)
12,370
-

163,948
(91)
215,956
(7,889)
(22,810)
(96,200)

(26,301)

252,914

(589,219)

(30,009)

(54,000)

-

Comprehensive Loss for Period

$

(643,219) $

(30,009)

Loss Per Common Share, basic and diluted

$

(0.08) $

(0.01)

Weighted Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding

7,472,179

5,107,085

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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December 31, 2016
Private placements, net of share issue costs
Shares issued on acquisition of property
Debt Settlement
Share bonus to personnel
Exercise of stock options
Share-based payments
Loss for the period

Numbers
of Shares
Outstanding
4,807,653 $

Share
Capital
156,529,025 $

49,999
20,000
300,000
39,000
9,687
-

142,000
96,200
900,000
190,320
50,372
-

5,226,339 $
7,472,179

157,907,917 $
165,862,805

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Reserves
Income
21,482,133 $
$
(5,687)
47,242
-

-

-

-

-

-

(30,009)

-

-

184,665

-

-

Warrants issued for mineral property

-

-

89,944

-

-

89,944

Loss for the period
Unrealized loss on marketable securities

-

-

-

(54,000)

7,472,179 $

165,862,805 $

22,895,811 $

(41,840) $

(161,245,674) $
(179,808,646)

142,000
96,200
900,000
190,320
44,685
47,242
(30,009)

Share-based payments

March 31, 2018

$
12,160

Total
16,795,493

18,185,931
8,687,521
184,665

March 31, 2017
December 31, 2017

21,523,688 $
22,621,202

Deficit
(161,215,665) $

(589,219)
(180,397,865) $

(589,219)
(54,000)
8,318,911

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements
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PROPHECY DEVELOPMENT CORP.
Condensed Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) (Unaudited)

Three months ended March 31,
2018
2017
Operating Activities
Net loss for period
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash flows:
Depreciation and accretion
Share-based payments
Finance cost
Interest costs
Unrealized foreign exchange (gain)/loss
Loss on sale of marketable securities
Impairment of mineral property

$

(589,219) $

(30,009)

1,923
134,928
148,218
(304,150)

105,428
42,579
91
7,889
22,810
96,200
244,988

Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities

(943)
(4,800)
(108,926)
(114,669)
(418,819)

(142,079)
15,018
(104,385)
(231,446)
13,542

Investing Activities
Net (purchases)/proceeds from marketable secutities
Mineral property acquisition
Mineral property expenditures
Cash Used in Investing Activities

(60,940)
(335,661)
(542,466)
(939,067)

153,190
(324,797)
(171,607)

Working capital adjustments
Receivables
Prepaid expenses and reclamation deposits
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and tax provision

Financing Activities
Funds borrowed under credit facility
Proceeds from share issuance, net of share issue costs
Cash Provided by Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash
Cash - beginning of period
Cash - end of period

$

-

1,819
186,685
188,504

(1,357,886)
4,100,608
2,742,722 $

30,439
21,648
52,087

Supplemental cash flow information (Note 14)

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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For the three months ended March 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) (Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND NATURE OF OPERATIONS
Prophecy Development Corp. (“Prophecy” or the “Company”) is incorporated under the laws of
the province of British Columbia, Canada. The Company’s common shares (the “Shares”) are listed
for trading on the Toronto Stock Exchange (the “TSX”) under the symbol “PCY”, the OTCQX® Best
Market under the symbol “PRPCF” and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the symbol “1P2N”.
The principal business of the Company is the acquisition, exploration and development of mineral
and energy projects. The Company owns a 100% interest in the following significant projects: two
vanadium projects located in North America including the Gibellini vanadium project which is
comprised of the Gibellini and Louie Hill vanadium deposits and associated claims located in the
State of Nevada, USA (the “Gibellini Project”) and the Titan vanadium-titanium-iron project
comprised of the Titan vanadium-titanium-iron deposit and related claims located in the Province
of Ontario, Canada (the “Titan Project”); the Pulacayo Paca silver-lead-zinc property which is
comprised of the Pulacayo and Paca silver-lead-zinc deposits and related concessions located in
Bolivia (the “Pulacayo Project”); two coal projects located in Mongolia including the Ulaan Ovoo
project which is comprised of the Ulaan Ovoo coal deposit, coal leases and Ulaan Ovoo mine and
the Khujirt exploration license (the “Ulaan Ovoo Coal Property”) and the Khavtgai Uul and
Chandgana Tal coal deposits, coal leases and Chandgana Tal mine (the “Chandgana Project”);
and the Chandgana Power Plant project comprised of a land right located in Mongolia.
The Company maintains its registered and records office at Suite 1610 – 409 Granville Street,
Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 1T2.
These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the assumption that the Company is a going concern. The Company currently does not generate
any revenue and is dependent on raising additional funds through of equity, debt, disposition of
assets, or some combination thereof, to continue the advancement of the Company’s projects.
Existing working capital is expected to be sufficient to cover non-discretionary operating
expenditures for the next twelve months.
2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION
(a) Statement of compliance
These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with IAS 34, Interim Financial Reporting. They do not include all the information and
disclosures required in the annual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the
Company’s annual financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31, 2017.
However, selected explanatory notes are included to explain events and transactions that are
significant to an understanding of the changes in the Company’s financial position and performance
since the last annual consolidated financial statements as at and for the year ended December 31,
2017 (“Annual Financial Statements”).
These unaudited condensed interim consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorized for issue by the Audit Committee on May 11, 2018.
(b) Significant accounting policies
These interim financial statements follow the same accounting policies and methods of application
as the Annual Financial Statements. Accordingly, they should be read in conjunction with the
Annual Financial Statements.
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (cont’d…)
(c) Use of judgments and estimates
In preparing these interim financial statements, management makes judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities, income and expense. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The significant
judgements made by management in applying the Company’s accounting policies and the key
sources of estimation uncertainty were the same as those that applied to the Annual Financial
Statements.
(d) Changes in accounting standards
IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’ (“IFRS 9”)
In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 as the first step in its project to replace IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. On July 24, 2014 the IASB issued the complete IFRS
9. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes two primary
measurement categories for financial assets: amortized cost and fair value. The basis of
classification depends on an entity’s business model and the contractual cash flows of the financial
asset.
Classification is made at the time the financial asset is initially recognized, namely when the entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
IFRS 9 amends some of the requirements of IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures, including
added disclosures about investments in equity instruments measured at fair value in other
comprehensive income, and guidance on the measurement of financial liabilities and de-recognition
of financial instruments. The mandatory effective date of IFRS 9 is for annual periods beginning on
or after January 1, 2018 with early adoption permitted and must be applied retrospectively with
some exemptions permitted.
Effective January 1, 2018, the Company has adopted IFRS 9. The implementation of the new
standard resulted in no impact on the measurement of the Company’s reported financial results;
however additional disclosures have been provided.
The Company’s financial instruments are accounted for as follows under IFRS 9 as compared to
the Company’s previous policy in accordance with IAS 39.
January 1, 2018
IAS 39

IFRS 9

Fair value through profit or loss
Amortized cost

Fair value through profit or loss
Amortized cost

Assets
Cash
Restricted cash equivalents
Receivables
Marketable securities
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Amortized cost

Amortized cost

Fair value through other
comprehensive income

Fair value through other
comprehensive income

Amortized cost

Amortized cost
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2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION (cont’d…)
(d) Changes in accounting standards (cont’d...)
Under IFRS 9, the Company’s equity marketable securities are designated as financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income or loss. Upon adoption of IFRS 9, The Company
has made an irrevocable election to recognize changes in fair value of marketable securities
through other comprehensive income or loss as they are not considered to be held for trading.
IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ (“IFRS 15”) – Effective January 1, 2018, the
Company has adopted IFRS 15. ’This standard contains a single model that applies to contracts
with customers and two approaches to recognising revenue: at a point in time or over time. The
model features a contract-based five-step analysis of transactions to determine whether, how much
and when revenue is recognized. New estimates and judgmental thresholds have been introduced,
which may affect the amount and/or timing of revenue recognized. The adoption of this standard
had no impact on the Company’s financial statements.
IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) - IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 and applies a control model to the
identification of leases, distinguishing between a lease and a service contract on the basis of
whether the customer controls the asset being leased. For those assets determined to meet the
definition of a lease, IFRS 16 introduces significant changes to the accounting by lessees,
introducing a single, on-balance sheet accounting model that is similar to the current finance lease
accounting, with limited exceptions for short-term leases or leases of low value assets. Lessor
accounting remains similar to current accounting practice. The standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early application permitted for entities that apply
IFRS 15. The Company plans to apply IFRS 16 at the date it becomes effective.
There are other new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations that have been
published and are not yet effective. The Company believes they will have no material impact to its
consolidated financial statements.
3. SEGMENTED INFORMATION
The Company operates in one operating segment, being the acquisition, exploration and
development of mineral properties. Geographic segmentation of Prophecy’s assets is as follows:

Canada
Reclamation deposits
Property and equipment
Mineral properties

$

$

$
17,416
17,416 $
Canada

Reclamation deposits
Property and equipment
Mineral properties

$

$

$
18,376
18,376 $

March 31, 2018
Mongolia

USA
$
1,203,919
1,203,919 $

Bolivia

21,055 $
$
21,055
39,855
438,554
495,825
12,974,213
14,178,132
60,910 $ 13,412,767 $ 14,695,012

December 31, 2017
Mongolia
Bolivia
$
490,356
490,356 $

Total

Total

21,055 $
$
21,055
48,364
465,171
531,911
12,809,550
13,299,906
69,419 $ 13,274,721 $ 13,852,872
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4. CASH AND RESTRICTED CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and restricted cash equivalents of Prophecy are comprised of bank balances and a
guaranteed investment certificate which can be readily converted into cash without significant
restrictions, changes in value or penalties.

March 31, 2018
Cash
Cash equivalents

$

2,742,722 $
34,500
2,777,222 $

$

December 31, 2017
4,100,608
34,500
4,100,608

Restricted Cash Equivalents
As at March 31, 2018, a guaranteed investment certificate of $34,500 (2016 - $34,500) has been
pledged as collateral for the Company’s credit card.
5. MARKETABLE SECURITIES
Marketable securities consist of investment in common shares of public companies and therefore
have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. The fair value of the listed marketable securities have
been determined directly by reference to published price quotation in an active market.
As of March 31, 2018, the Company holds 2,700,000 shares (December 31, 2017 – 1,409,000) of
a public company. These shares are marked to market which resulted in an unrealized loss of
$54,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2018 (2017 - a gain of $12,160).
The following table summarized information regarding the Company’s marketable securities as at
December 31, 2017 and March 31, 2018.

Marketable securities
Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
Realized loss on disposal
Unrealized gain/(loss) on mark-to-market
Balance, end of year

March 31, 2018
$

$

205,600 $
60,940
(54,000)
212,540 $

December 31, 2017
176,000
193,440
(153,190)
(22,810)
12,160
205,600
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6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Computer
Equipment
Cost
Balance, December 31, 2016
Additions
Impairment charge
Balance, December 31, 2017
Accumulated depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2016
Depreciation for year
Impairment charge
Balance, December 31, 2017
Carrying amount
At December 31, 2016
At December 31, 2017
Cost
Balance, December 31, 2017
Additions/Disposals
Balance, March 31, 2018
Accumulated depreciation
Balance, December 31, 2017
Depreciation for period
Balance, March 31, 2018
Carrying amount
At December 31, 2017
At March 31, 2018

$

Furniture &
Equipment

Computer
Sofptware

Vehicles

Mining
Equipment

Total

100,221 $
(147)
100,074 $

279,213 $
(2,383)
276,830 $

197,813 $
197,813 $

453,854 $
(281,162)
172,692 $

1,534,745 $
(219,916)
1,314,829 $

2,565,846
(2,530)
(501,078)
2,062,238

$

94,900 $
1,795
96,695 $

181,639 $
35,434
217,073 $

197,813 $
197,813 $

339,916 $
18,434
(228,508)
129,842 $

833,971 $
167,837
(112,904)
888,904 $

1,648,239
223,500
(341,412)
1,530,327

$
$

5,321 $
3,379 $

97,574 $
59,757 $

-

$
$

113,938 $
42,850 $

700,774 $
425,925 $

917,607
531,911

$

100,074 $
100,074 $

276,830 $
276,830 $

197,813 $
$

172,692 $
172,692 $

1,314,829 $
1,314,829 $

2,062,238
2,062,238

$

96,695 $
96
96,791 $

217,073 $
4,262
221,335 $

197,813 $
$

129,842 $
7,615
137,457 $

888,904 $
24,113
913,017 $

1,530,327
36,086
1,566,413

$
$

3,379 $
3,283 $

59,757 $
55,495 $

42,850 $
35,235 $

425,925 $
401,812 $

531,911
495,825

$
$

$
$

-

$
$

The impaired value of $nil for deferred development costs at Ulaan Ovoo property at March 31, 2018 remains unchanged. During the year ended
December 31, 2017, the Company wrote-off $159,666 of equipment in Mongolia because it was no longer in use.
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7. MINERAL PROPERTIES

Titan
Balance, December 31, 2016
Additions:
Acquisition cost
Deferred exploration costs:
Licenses, power plant application
Geological core and consulting
Personnel, camp and general
Impairment
Balance, December 31, 2017
Additions:
Acquisition cost
Deferred exploration costs:
Licenses, tax, and permits
Geological core and consulting
Personnel, camp and general
Balance, March 31, 2018

Chandgana Tal

$

-

$

$

96,200

$

$

11,186,322
-

Khavtgai Uul
$
$

27,190
39,362
2,492
69,044
(96,200)
(11,255,366)
$
$

$

-

$

-

$

-

$

-

3,232,443
-

Pulacayo
$
$

242,766
2,492
245,258
(3,477,701)
$

$

-

$

-

$

$

Gibellini

11,980,943
102,592
726,015
828,607
12,809,550
14,271
150,392
164,663
12,974,213

Total

$

-

$

26,399,708

$

58,790

$

154,990

$

74,876
272,620
84,070
431,566
490,356

$

$

425,605

$

425,605

$

26,524
178,104
83,330
287,958
1,203,919

$

26,524
192,375
233,722
452,621
14,178,132

344,832
414,574
815,069
1,574,475
(14,829,267)
13,299,906
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7. MINERAL PROPERTIES (cont’d…)
Gibellini Project, Nevada, United States
Gibellini Project
The Gibellini Project consists of a total of 354 unpatented lode mining claims that include: the
Gibellini group of 40 claims, the VC Exploration group of 105 claims, and the Prophecy group of
209 claims. All the claims are located in Eureka County, Nevada, USA.
The Gibellini group of claims was acquired on June 22, 2017, through lease from the claimant (the
“Gibellini Lessor”) and includes an area of approximately 771 acres. Under the Gibellini Mineral
Lease Agreement (the “Gibellini MLA”) Prophecy leased the Gibellini group of claims which
originally constituted the Gibellini Project by among other things, agreeing to pay to the Gibellini
Lessor, USD 35,000 (paid), annual advance royalty payments which will be tied, based on an
agreed formula (not to exceed USD120,000 per year), to the average vanadium pentoxide price of
the prior year. Upon commencement of production, Prophecy will maintain its acquisition through
lease of the Gibellini group of claims by paying to the Gibellini Lessor, a 2.5% NSR until a total of
USD3,000,000 is paid. Thereafter, the NSR will be reduced to 2% over the remaining life of the
mine (and referred to thereafter, as “production royalty payments”). All advance royalty payments
made, will be deducted as credits against future production royalty payments. The lease is for a
term of 10 years, which can be extended for an additional 10 years at Prophecy’s option.
On July 10, 2017, the Company acquired (through lease) from the holders (the “Former Louie Hill
Lessors”) 10 unpatented lode claims totaling approximately 207 gross acres that comprised the
Louie Hill group of claims located approximately 500 metres south of the Gibellini group of claims.
These claims were subsequently abandoned by the Former Louie Hill Lessors, and on March 11
and 12, 2018, the Company staked the area within and under 17 new claims totaling approximately
340 gross acres which now collectively comprise the expanded Louie Hill group of claims.
Under the terms of the mineral lease agreement (the “Louie Hill MLA”), the Company is required
to make payments as follows: cash payment of USD10,000 (paid), annual advance royalty
payments which will be tied, based on an agreed formula (not to exceed USD28,000 per year), to
the average vanadium pentoxide price for the prior year. Upon commencement of production,
Prophecy will pay to the Former Louie Hill Lessors, a 2.5% NSR of which, 1.5% of the NSR may
be purchased at any time by Prophecy for USD1,000,000, leaving the total NSR to be reduced to
1% over the remaining life of the mine (and referred to thereafter, as “production royalty payments”).
All advance royalty payments made, will be deducted as credits against future production royalty
payments. The lease will be for a term of 10 years, which can be extended for an additional 10
years at Prophecy’s option.
On December 5, 2017, the Company expanded the land position at the Gibellini Project, by staking
a total of 198 new claims immediately adjacent to the Gibellini Project covering 4091 acres.
On February 15, 2018, the Company indirectly acquired an additional 105 unpatented lode mining
claims located adjacent to its existing Gibellini Project through the indirect acquisition of VC
Exploration (US) Inc. (“VC Exploration”) by paying a total of $335,661 in cash and issuing 50,000
Share purchase warrants (valued at $89,944) to arm’s-length, private parties. Each warrant entitles
the holder upon exercise, to acquire one Share of the Company at a price of $5.00 per Share until
February 15, 2021.
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7. MINERAL PROPERTIES (cont’d…)
Gibellini Project, Nevada, United States (cont’d…)
After the period end, on April 19, 2018, the Gibellini MLA was amended to grant Prophecy the
option, at any time during the term of the agreement, to require the Gibellini Lessor to transfer their
title over all of the leased mining claims (excluding four claims which will be retained by the Gibellini
Lessor and which contain minimal resource) to Prophecy in exchange for USD1,000,000, to be
paid as an advance royalty payment (Note 16).
Pulacayo Property, Bolivia
The Pulacayo property, a silver-lead-zinc project located in southwestern Bolivia, was acquired on
January 2, 2015 through the acquisition of 100% of Apogee’s interest in ASC Holdings Limited and
ASC Bolivia LDC, which together, hold ASC Bolivia LDC Sucursal Bolivia (“ASC”), which in turn,
holds a joint venture interest in the Pulacayo Project.
ASC controls the mining rights to the Pulacayo Project through a joint venture agreement entered
into between itself and the Pulacayo Ltda. Mining Cooperative on July 30, 2002 (the “ASC Joint
Venture”). The ASC Joint Venture has a term of 23 years which commenced the day the ASC
Joint Venture was entered into. Pursuant to the ASC Joint Venture, ASC is committed to pay
monthly rent of USD1,000 to the state-owned Mining Corporation of Bolivia, COMIBOL and
USD1,500 monthly rent to the Pulacayo Ltda. Mining Cooperative until the Pulacayo Project starts
commercial production.
Previously Impaired Properties
Chandgana Properties, Mongolia
Chandgana Tal
In March 2006, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Chandgana Tal property, a coal
exploration property consisting of two exploration licenses located in the northeast part of the
Nyalga coal basin, approximately 290 kilometers east of Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia.
In March 2011, the Company obtained a mine permit from Ministry of Mineral Resources and
Energy for the Chandgana Tal coal project.
Khavtgai Uul Property, Mongolia
In 2007, the Company acquired a 100% interest in the Chandgana Khavtgai property, a coal
exploration property consisting of one license located in the northeast part of the Nyalga coal basin.
At December 31, 2017, due to market conditions, the Company impaired the value of the
Chandgana Properties deferred exploration costs to $nil. As at December 31, 2017, the recoverable
amount of $nil resulted in an impairment charge of $14,733,067 against the value of the deferred
exploration costs, which was reflected on the consolidated statement of operations.
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7. MINERAL PROPERTIES (cont’d…)
Previously Impaired Properties (cont’d…)
Titan Property, Ontario, Canada
The Company has a 100% interest in the Titan property, a vanadium-titanium-iron project located
in Ontario, Canada.
In January 2010, the Company entered into an option agreement with Randsburg International
Gold Corp. (“Randsburg”) whereby Prophecy Resource Corp. had the right to acquire an 80%
interest in the Titan property by paying Randsburg an aggregate of $500,000 (paid), and by
incurring exploration expenditures of $200,000 by December 31, 2010. Pursuant to the option
agreement, Randsburg has the option to sell the remaining 20% interest in the Titan property to
the Company for $150,000 cash or 400,000 Shares of the Company.
At December 31, 2014, due to market conditions, the Company impaired the value of the property
to $nil. On February 10, 2017, the Company negotiated with Randsburg to acquire the remaining
20% title interest of Randsburg in the Titan project by issuing to Randsburg 20,000 Shares at a
value of $4.81 per Share. As there were no benchmark or market changes from January 1, 2015
to December 31, 2017, the impaired value of $nil for Titan property remains unchanged. Therefore,
the Company recorded an impairment loss of $96,200 on the acquisition of the remaining title
interest in Titan which was reflected on the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss.
8. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities of the Company consist of amounts outstanding for trade
and other purchases relating to development and exploration, along with administrative activities.
The usual credit period taken for trade purchases is between 30 to 90 days.

March 31, 2018 December 31, 2017
Trade accounts payable
Accrued liabilities

$
$

1,605,312 $
8,000
1,613,312 $

1,644,995
250,988
1,895,983

9. SHARE CAPITAL
(a) Authorized
The authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares without par
value (the “Shares”). There are no authorized preferred shares. At March 31, 2018, the
Company had 7,472,179 (December 31, 2017 – 7,472,179) common shares issued and
outstanding.
(b) Equity issuances
There was no share issuance during the three months ended March 31, 2018.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)
(c)

Equity-based compensation plans
The following is a summary of the changes in Prophecy’s stock options from December 31,
2016 to March 31, 2018:

Outstanding, December 31, 2016
Granted
Expired
Exercised
Outstanding, December 31, 2017
Granted
Outstanding, March 31, 2018

Number of
Options
460,814
408,000
(31,293)
(12,687)
824,834
20,000
844,834

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
$6.42
$3.75
$20.80
$4.00
$4.59
$3.10
$3.16

As of March 31, 2018, the following Prophecy share purchase options were outstanding:
Exercise
Price
$3.10
$4.75
$3.30
$3.50
$3.10
$2.00
$5.00
$5.00
$6.50
$10.00
$10.50
$12.00
$13.00

Expiry
Date
February 20, 2023
November 6, 2022
June 12, 2022
September 1, 2022
January 12, 2022
June 2, 2021
June 22, 2020
April 7, 2020
May 1, 2019
February 3, 2019
January 27, 2019
August 16, 2018
July 22, 2018

Options Outstanding
March 31, December 31,
2018
2017
20,000
5,000
5,000
145,000
145,000
167,000
167,000
91,000
91,000
155,750
155,750
32,800
32,800
82,062
82,062
54,750
54,750
5,000
5,000
51,500
51,500
32,472
32,472
2,500
2,500
844,834
824,834

Exercisable
Unvested
March 31,
2018
2018
20,000
625
4,375
54,375
90,625
41,750
125,250
45,500
45,500
136,282
19,468
32,800
82,062
54,750
5,000
51,500
32,472
2,500
539,615
305,218

The three months ended March 31, 2018, included $134,928 (same period 2017 - $42,579) in
share based payment costs related to stock options expensed as general and administrative
expenses and $49,737 (same period 2017 – 4,663) capitalized to mineral properties.
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9. SHARE CAPITAL (cont’d…)
(d) Share purchase warrants
The following is a summary of the changes in Prophecy’s Share purchase warrants from
December 31, 2016 to March 31, 2018.

Outstanding, December 31, 2016
Issued
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding, December 31, 2017
Issued
Expired
Outstanding, March 31, 2018

Number Weighted Average
of Warrants
Exercise Price
1,348,060
$4.68
1,245,368
$4.13
(15,000)
$4.00
(2,625)
$7.00
2,575,803
$4.42
50,000
$5.00
(5,600)
$4.00
2,620,203

$4.43

On February 15, 2018, the Company issued 50,000 Share purchase warrants as a part of
consideration for mining claims acquisition (Note 7). The fair value of $89,944 of the issued
warrants determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model using the following
assumptions: (1) a risk-free interest rate of 1.9%; (2) warrant expected life of three years; (3)
expected volatility of 116%’ and (4) dividend yield of nil.
As of March 31, 2018, the following Prophecy share purchase warrants were outstanding:

Exercise price

$5.00
$4.00
$4.00
$4.00
$5.00
$5.00
$4.00
$4.40
$4.00
$4.00
$7.00
$7.00
$4.00
$6.00
$5.00
$4.00

Number of Warrants
At March 31,
At December 31,
2018
2017
50,000
70,335
70,335
270,136
270,136
358,006
358,006
59,659
59,659
103,250
103,250
49,999
49,999
101,367
101,367
750,000
750,000
65,000
65,000
62,500
62,500
111,200
111,200
333,984
333,984
114,768
114,768
120,000
120,000
5,600
2,620,203
2,575,803

Expiry date

February 15, 2021
December 18, 2020
October 16, 2020
September 20, 2020
June 13, 2022
April 12, 2022
January 13, 2022
August 29, 2021
June 2, 2021
January 25, 2021
November 13, 2020
September 30, 2020
September 20, 2020
June 24, 2020
May 22, 2020
January 25,2018
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10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value hierarchy
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value hierarchy
establishes three levels to classify the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 inputs are quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability (for example, interest rate and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals,
forward pricing curves used to value currency and commodity contracts and volatility measurements
used to value option contracts), or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by
observable market data or other means. Level 3 inputs are unobservable (supported by little or no
market activity). The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest
priority to Level 3 inputs. Prophecy utilizes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to
valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows:
Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – inputs are quoted prices in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities in active markets, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or
liability (for example, interest rate and yield curves observable at commonly quoted intervals,
forward pricing curves used to value currency and commodity contracts and volatility measurements
used to value option contracts), or inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by
observable market data or other means; and
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
inputs).
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs and the lowest priority to Level 3
inputs. The following table sets forth Prophecy’s financial assets measured at fair value by level
within the fair value hierarchy.

As at March 31, 2018
Financial assets
Cash
Marketable securities

Level 1
$ 2,742,722
$ 212,540
$ 2,955,262

Level 2
$
$
$

-

Level 3
$
$
$

-

Total
$ 2,742,722
$ 212,540
$ 2,955,262
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10. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (cont’d…)
Categories of financial instruments
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying amounts in the
condensed interim consolidated balance sheet. The Company does not offset financial assets with
financial liabilities. There were no changes to the method of fair value measurement during the
period. The Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are categorized as follows:

March 31, 2018
Fair value through profit or loss
Cash
Fair value through orther comprehensive income or loss
Marketable securities
Amortized cost
Receivables
Restricted cash equivalents
Financial Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$ 2,742,722

December 31, 2017
$

4,100,608

212,540

205,600

35,596
34,500
$ 3,025,358

34,653
34,500
4,375,361

$ 1,613,312
$ 1,613,312

$
$
$

1,895,983
1,895,983

11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES
(a) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will be unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company manages liquidity risk by preparing cash flow forecasts of upcoming cash
requirements. As at March 31, 2018, the Company had a cash balance of $2,742,722
(December 31, 2017 – $4,100,608). As at March 31, 2018, the Company had accounts payable
and accrued liabilities of $1,613,312 (December 31, 2017 - $1,895,983), which have
contractual maturities of 90 days or less.
(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation
and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk
primarily associated to cash and restricted cash equivalents and receivables, net of allowances.
The significant concentration of credit risk is situated in Mongolia. The carrying amount of
assets included on the statements of financial position represents the maximum credit
exposure.
(c) Market risk
The significant market risks to which the Company is exposed are interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk, and commodity and equity price risk. The objective of market risk management
is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing
returns.
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11. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT DISCLOSURES (cont’d…)
(c) Market risk (cont’d…)
(i)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. The Company’s cash and restricted
cash equivalents primarily include highly liquid investments that earn interest at market
rates that are fixed to maturity. Due to the short‐ term nature of these financial instruments,
fluctuations in market rates do not have significant impact on the fair values of the financial
instruments as of March 31, 2018.

(ii) Foreign currency risk
The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk to the extent that monetary assets and
liabilities held by the Company are not denominated in Canadian dollars.
The Company has exploration and development projects in the United States, Mongolia
and Bolivia and undertakes transactions in various foreign currencies. The Company is
therefore exposed to foreign currency risk arising from transactions denominated in a
foreign currency and the translation of financial instruments denominated in US dollars,
Mongolian tugrik, and Bolivian boliviano into its functional and reporting currency, the
Canadian dollar.
Based on the above, net exposures as at March 31, 2018, with other variables unchanged,
a 10% (December 31, 2017 – 10%) strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar
against the Mongolian tugrik would impact net loss with other variables unchanged by
$65,000. A 10% strengthening (weakening) of the Canadian dollar against the Bolivian
boliviano would impact net loss with other variables unchanged by $150,000. A 10%
strengthening (weakening) of the US dollar against the Canadian dollar would impact net
loss with other variables unchanged by $45,000. The Company currently does not use any
foreign exchange contracts to hedge this currency risk.
(iii) Commodity and equity price risk
Commodity price risk is defined as the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic
value due to commodity price movements and volatilities. Commodity prices fluctuate on a
daily basis and are affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control. The
supply and demand for these commodities, the level of interest rates, the rate of inflation,
investment decisions by large holders of commodities including governmental reserves
and stability of exchange rates can all cause significant fluctuations in prices. Such external
economic factors are in turn influenced by changes in international investment patterns
and monetary systems and political developments.
The Company is also exposed to price risk with regards to equity prices. Equity price risk
is defined as the potential adverse impact on the Company’s earning due to movements in
individual equity prices or general movements in the level of the stock market
The Company closely monitors commodity prices, individual equity movements and the
stock market to determine the appropriate course of action to be taken by the Company.
Fluctuations in value may be significant.
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12. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Prophecy had related party transactions with the following companies, related by way of directors
and key management personnel:
•

Linx Partners Ltd., a private company controlled by John Lee, Director, CEO and Executive
Chairman of Prophecy, provides management and consulting services to the Company.

•

MaKevCo Consulting Inc., a private company 50% owned by Greg Hall, Director of Prophecy,
provides consulting services to the Company.

•

Sophir Asia Ltd., a private company controlled by Masa Igata, Director of Prophecy, provides
consulting services to the Company

A summary of amounts paid or accrued to related parties is as follows:

Related parties
Directors and officers
Linx Partners Ltd.
MaKevCo Consulting Inc.
Sophir Asia Ltd.

$

$

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017
117,163 $
52,250
105,012
52,500
4,700
6,200
4,400
3,500
231,275 $
114,450

A summary of the transactions by nature among the related parties is as follows:

Related parties
Consulting and management fees
Directors' fees
Mineral properties
Salaries

$

$

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017
55,512 $
30,900
13,500
10,800
93,763
39,000
68,500
33,750
231,275 $
114,450

As at March 31, 2018, amounts due to related parties totaled $Nil (December 31, 2017 – $160,503).
13. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Company, including directors of the Company.

Three Months Ended March 31,
2018
2017

Key Management Personnel
Salaries and short term benefits
Share-based payments

$
$

70,912 $
132,544
203,456 $

34,367
26,324
60,691
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14. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Three months ended March 31,
2018
2017
Supplementary information
Non-Cash Financing and Investing Activities
Shares issued to pay Credit Facility
Shares issued on acquisition of mineral property
Shares issued for accrued bonus
Warrants issued on acquisition of mineral property
Depreciation included in mineral property
Equipment expenditures included in accounts payable
Fair value loss on available-for-sale investments
Mineral property expenditures included in accounts payable
Share-based payments capitalized in mineral properties

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

89,944
26,616
546,471
54,000
613,666
49,737

$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$
$

900,000
96,200
190,320
42,763
1,749,571
1,162,057
4,663

15. CONTINGENCIES
ASC tax claim
On January 2, 2015, the Company acquired ASC Holdings Limited and ASC Bolivia LDC (which
together, hold ASC Bolivia LDC Sucursal Bolivia, which in turn, held Apogee Silver Ltd.’s
(“Apogee”) joint venture interest in the Pulacayo Project) and Apogee Minerals Bolivia S.A.
Pursuant to the terms of the Agreement, Prophecy agreed to assume all liabilities of these former
Apogee subsidiaries, including legal and tax liabilities associated with the Pulacayo Project. During
Apogee’s financial year ended June 30, 2014, it received notice from the Servicio de Impuestos
Nacionales, the national tax authority in Bolivia, that ASC Bolivia LDC Sucursal Bolivia, now the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, owed approximately Bs42,000,000 ($7,689,234 in taxes,
interest and penalties relating to a historical tax liability in an amount originally assessed at
approximately $760,000 in 2004, prior to Apogee acquiring the subsidiary in 2011. Apogee
disputed the assessment and disclosed to the Company that it believed the notice was improperly
issued. The Company continued to dispute the assessment and hired local legal counsel to pursue
an appeal of the tax authority’s assessment on both substantive and procedural grounds. On May
26, 2015, the Company received a positive Resolution issued by the Bolivian Constitutional
Court that among other things, declared null and void the previous Resolution of the Bolivian
Supreme Court issued in 2011 (that imposed the tax liability on ASC Bolivia LDC Sucursal Bolivia)
and sent the matter back to the Supreme Court to consider and issue a new Resolution. The
Company plans to continue to vigorously defend its position and make submissions to the Supreme
Court during the new hearing. Based on these developments, the tax claim amount of $7,689,234
(2017 - $7,541,016) was classified as non-current liabilities.
Red Hill tax claim
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Red Hill
Mongolia LLC (“Red Hill”) was issued a letter from the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division notifying it
of the results of the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division’s VAT inspection of Red Hill’s 2009-2013 tax
imposition and payments that resulted in validating VAT credits of only MNT235,718,533 from Red
Hill’s claimed VAT credit of MNT2,654,175,507. Red Hill disagreed with the Sukhbaatar District
Tax Division’s findings as the tax assessment appeared to the Company to be unfounded.
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15. CONTINGENCIES (cont’d…)
Red Hill tax claim (cont’d…)
The Company disputed the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division’s assessment and submitted a
complaint to the Capital City Tax Tribunal. On March 24, 2015, the Capital City Tax Tribunal
resolved to refer the matter back to the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division for revision and separation
of the action between confirmation of Red Hill’s VAT credit, and the imposition of the
penalty/deduction for the tax assessment.
The Sukhbaatar District Tax Division appealed the Capital City Tax Tribunal’s resolution to the
General Tax Tribunal office but was denied on June 4, 2015 on procedural grounds. As a result,
the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division implemented the Capital City Tax Tribunal’s resolution on June
25, 2015, finding: (1) with respect to confirmation of Red Hill’s VAT credit, that after inspection the
amount was to be MNT235,718,533; and (2) with respect to the imposition of the penalty/deduction
for the tax assessment, that no penalty was to be issued but that Red Hill’s loss to be depreciated
and reported was to be MNT1,396,668,549 in 2010 and MNT4,462,083,700 in 2011. The Company
continued to dispute the Sukhbaatar District Tax Division’s assessment and delivered a complaint
to Capital City Tax Tribunal on July 24, 2015. Due to the uncertainty of realizing the VAT balance,
the Company has recorded an impairment charge for the full VAT balance in the year ended
December 31, 2015.
At this time there is no change in the VAT claim. Red Hill has submitted a complaint concerning
this long delay to the General Tax office and the Ministry of Finance. Following the submittal, the
City tax tribunal officer responded and informed Red Hill that a hearing will be scheduled soon.
Red Hill is working with its external lawyer to give additional documents to the City tax tribunal
before the hearing to solidify the case.
As there were no changes from January 1 to March 31, 2018, the impaired value of $Nil for the
VAT receivable remains unchanged.
16. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
• On April 6, 2018, the Company granted in aggregate, 140,000 incentive stock options to various
directors, officers and consultants of the Company. The options are exercisable at a price of $2.80
per Share for a term of five years expiring on April 6, 2023 and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the
first two years following the date of grant.
•

3,125 Prophecy stock options at an exercise price of $2.00 per Share were exercised, 3,000 and
5,000 Prophecy stock options at an exercise price of $5.00 and $2.00 per Share respectively were
cancelled.
• On April 18, 2018, the Company announced that it has signed an agreement with Monitor Ventures
Inc. (“Monitor”) for the right to access and use information related to the Gibellini Project which
was commissioned, compiled and held by Monitor. In consideration, Prophecy paid $7,000 in cash;
issued to Monitor 50,000 warrants entitling Monitor to purchase one Share at an exercise price of
$3.00 for a period of three years, and will, upon approval of the environmental impact statement in
connection with the Gibellini Project by the Bureau of Land Management, pay Monitor, $50,000 in
cash.
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16. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (cont’d…)
•

On April 23, 2018, the Company announced an amendment to the Gibellini MLA, whereby
Prophecy has been granted the right to cause the Gibellini Lessor of the Gibellini mineral claims to
transfer their title to the claims to Prophecy. With the amendment, Prophecy shall have the option
to, at any time during the term of the Gibellini MLA, require the Gibellini Lessor to transfer title over
all of the leased, unpatented lode mining claims (excluding four claims which will be retained by
the Gibellini Lessor for sentimental reasons and which contain minimal resource) (the “Transferred
Claims”) to Prophecy in exchange for USD1,000,000, to be paid as an advance royalty payment
(the “Transfer Payment”). A credit of USD99,027 in favour of Prophecy towards the Transfer
Payment is already paid upon signing of the amendment, with the remaining USD900,973 portion
of the Transfer Payment due and payable by Prophecy to the Gibellini Lessor upon completion of
transfer of the Transferred Claims from the Gibellini Lessor to Prophecy. The advance royalty
obligation and production royalty shall not be affected, reduced or relieved by the transfer of title.

•

On April 27, 2018, the Company granted in aggregate, 15,000 incentive stock options to various
consultants of the Company. The options are exercisable at a price of $3.15 per Share for a term
of five years expiring on April 27, 2023 and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the first two years following
the date of grant.

•

On May 1, 2018, the Company granted 20,000 incentive stock options to a consultant of the
Company. The options are exercisable at a price of $3.10 per Common share for a term of five
years expiring on May 1, 2023 and vest at 12.5% per quarter for the first two years following the
date of grant.
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